I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners, The Sage Group I, LLC, M3, Inc., Ronald and Sally 

Worman, and Erik Van Alstine, were plaintiffs in the trial court and 

appellants in the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of Division One's unpublished decision in 

The Sage Group L LLC, et al. v. Kotter, et al., No. 71405-8-I, filed on 

August 24, 2015, attached at Appendix ("App.") 1-21. That decision 

concludes that Washington courts are powerless to reach property 

obtained by fraud if it has been moved to an "innocent" transferee. That is 

not the law. Courts have imposed constructive trusts on property obtained 

by fraud for centuries. It has never mattered that trust property was 

changed into a new form, transferred to an "innocent" third party, or that 

its value was uncertain. By holding otherwise, the Court of Appeals 

provided a roadmap for wrongdoers and their allies to escape liability and 

deprive a defrauded party of a full remedy. Review and reversal are 

warranted. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether an arbitration award in favor of a defrauded party 

("Victim") and against the breaching fiduciary ("Fraudster") that ordered 

Fraudster to disgorge the profits he earned from the property obtained by 

that breach collaterally estops Victim's subsequent lawsuit for a 

constructive trust on the property itself, now held by an "innocent" 

transferee ("Snow White"), when Fraudster and Snow White colluded to 
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remove it out of the arbitrator's jurisdiction, and when Fraudster spoliated 

and Snow White withheld volumes of evidence relevant to the property. 

2. Whether Snow White's business-which acquired, without 

consideration, substantially all of the assets and ongoing operations of the 

business Snow White shared with Fraudster-may contract around 

successor liability. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts are taken from the Court of Appeals' opmwn, 

supplemented by the record on appeal. 

A. Factual Background 

The Sage Group is a successful business consulting firm. 

Ron Worman ("Worman") and his wife, Sally (collectively, the 

"Wormans"), have been members of The Sage Group since 2002. Dana 

Green ("Green") and his wife had a membership interest in The Sage 

Group until 2010, when their interest was terminated. Erik Van Alstine is 

the president of M3. Green served on M3' s Board of Advisors. 

In fall 2007, Van Alstine introduced The Sage Group to Dr. John 

Kotter, a Harvard Business School professor and author. At that time, 

Kotter and his wife, Nancy Dearman (collectively, the "Kotters"), owned 

and operated Kotter Associates, a public-speaking and book-publishing 

business. On February 11, 2008, Kotter Associates and The Sage Group 

entered into a consulting agreement, which provided for monthly 

payments of $20,000 to The Sage Group in exchange for consulting 

services. CP 65-68. 
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In June 2008, Kotter proposed a new relationship with The Sage 

Group: "No consultant and client. All new revenue from joint activities 

is split by some formula." CP 259-61. Green, as the point person for The 

Sage Group's and Van Alstine's communications with the Kotters, agreed. 

!d. The new business, Sage!Kotter, LLC, was registered as a Delaware 

limited liability company in August 2008. The Sage Group, Worman, and 

Van Alstine were instrumental in getting that business started: Van 

Alstine worked with The Sage Group to create business plans and identify 

potential clients, including Westinghouse and the U.S. Army; Worman 

helped developed market strategy and identified the executive team. In 

October 2008, the Kotters proposed that they would own 51 percent of 

Sage!Kotter and "Dana [Green] and friends" would own 49 percent. 

CP 2051. The Kotters were "neutral" about Worman's and Van Alstine's 

ownership interest as long as it came out of Green's share. CP 1827-28. 

In the last few months of 2008, however, Green started pursuing 

his own interests in Sage!Kotter. In December 2008, Worman received a 

proposed operating agreement that allocated 96 percent of the ownership 

of Sage I Kotter and 100 percent of the voting and management rights to 

Kotter and Green; Worman would receive a 4 percent non-voting interest 

and Van Alstine would receive nothing. CP 1608, 1635-36. 

Over Worman's and Van Alstine's objections, Green and the 

Kotters executed Sage!Kotter's Operating Agreement, which allocated to 

them 38 percent and 62 percent of the ownership interests, respectively, 

and appointed Green and Kotter co-managers. CP 1173-220. Sage!Kotter 
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was immediately successful, generating more than $7,000,000 in revenues 

in 2009-a threefold increase over the revenues the Kotters had generated 

by themselves a year earlier. CP 1122-23, 1600, 1638, 2449. The 

majority of that revenue came from consulting services for clients such as 

Westinghouse and the U.S. Army. App. at 5-6; CP 1966-67, 2449. 

As required by The Sage Group's Operating Agreement, the 

Wormans commenced an arbitration against Green in April 2009 for 

breach of fiduciary duty (the "Arbitration"). CP 271-312. They sought 

disgorgement of Green's salary as Sage[Kotter's president as well as a 

constructive trust over the 38 percent ownership interest in Sage[Kotter 

that he wrongfully obtained. !d. Because the Kotters, Kotter Associates, 

and Sage[Kotter were not parties to The Sage Group's Operating 

Agreement, they could not be joined to the Arbitration. Van Alstine and 

M3 filed a separate lawsuit against Green for breach of fiduciary duty 

arising out of the M3 Board Advisor Agreement. 

Green and the Kotters coordinated their strategies m the 

Arbitration. CP 327. One strategy included dissolving Sage[Kotter: 

Section 9.5 [of Sage[Kotter's LLC Agreement] permits 
Class A and B members to purchase and transfer each 
other's units. However, doing this would not be in your 
clients' interests, because Mr. Worman or Mr. Van Alstine 
would surely join your clients in the arbitration/litigation 
to impose a constructive trust over Mr. Green's 38% 
ownership interest in Sage[Kotter. Ultimately, nothing in 
the LLC Agreement requires Mr. Green to forfeit his units 
absent dissolution of Sage[Kotter. For that reason, we 
believe the formal dissolution of Sage!Kotter ... is in the 
best interest of all of our clients. 

CP 2074 (emphasis added). 
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Under sections 5.6.3 and 5.6.5 of Sage!Kotter's Operating 

Agreement, "unanimous" consent of all managers (i.e., Kotter and Green) 

was required to dissolve Sage!Kotter under section 12.2 of the Operating 

Agreement or to transfer its assets or business. See CP 728, 733, 736, 

741-42. On December 22, 2009, the Kotters unilaterally announced that 

they had "voted and ... desire[ d] to dissolve and wind up the affairs of 

[SageiKotter], pursuant to Section 12.2(a)(ii) of the Operating 

Agreement." CP 432-33,435, 1618-19. On January 10,2010, the Kotters 

and Green entered into a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (the 

"Settlement Agreement") under which Green received $31,250 in unpaid 

salary from Sage!Kotter (CP 1358); $129,639 for his share of some of 

Sage!Kotter's cash-on-hand (CP 1359); and $150,000 from the Kotters for 

a release of claims (CP 1349). None of the amounts Green received were 

for his 38 percent interest. CP 1335-36, 1520, 1792. No valuation was 

done of Sage!Kotter's assets or ongoing business. 

The Settlement Agreement transferred all of SageiKotter' s assets 

to Kotter International, Inc., a previously dormant company wholly owned 

by the Kotters. CP 1363-66, 1994. That transfer included all of 

Sage!Kotter's ongoing contracts under which more than $5,852,500 

remained to be paid, and was paid to Kotter International. CP 1366. It 

also included the intellectual property that SageiKotter developed and 

used to perform those contracts. See id.; see also CP 1968. Kotter 

International stepped into the shoes of Sage!Kotter by continuing to 

provide the same services, under the same business model, to the same 
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clients, under the same contracts, through the same employees, in the 

same office space. CP 413-14, 417-19. The three contracts that generated 

75 percent of Sage!Kotter's revenue became the largest sources of revenue 

for Kotter International, taking a "dormant" company with a few thousand 

dollars in revenue in 2009, to an active company with more than 

$8,950,000 in revenue in 2010. CP 1332, 1338, 1994. Neither the Kotters 

nor Kotter International paid any consideration to Sage!Kotter for the 

assets transferred to Kotter International. CP 1363-66, 1758, 1770, 1788. 

Eight months after the "dissolution" of Sage!Kotter, the Arbitrator 

found Green liable to The Sage Group and the Wormans for constructive 

fraud and breaches of fiduciary duty. App. 24, 30. The Arbitrator also 

found that Green acquired his 38 percent ownership interest in Sage!Kotter 

wrongfully, id at 24, and that Green tried to obscure his wrongdoing by 

"spoliation of hard copy and electronic records," id at 26, and "by 

presenting sworn testimony that can only be viewed as knowingly 

incomplete and untrue," id at 42. The Arbitrator ordered Green to 

disgorge half of the compensation he received from Sage!Kotter in 2009, 

or $413,562.50; half of the salary he received from The Sage Group for 

the last two months of 2008, or $34,320.50; and half of the "settlement 

payment" from the Kotters, or $75,000. Id at 33-35. The Arbitrator also 

awarded the Wormans their attorneys' fees and costs. Id at 45-46. 

The Arbitrator, however, was unable to enforce the constructive 

· trust on the 38 percent ownership interest. Because Sage!Kotter had been 

stripped of all assets and dissolved, and because the Arbitrator had no 
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jurisdiction over the Kotters or Kotter International, the Arbitrator was 

"prevent[ed] [from] the formal imposition of a trust." ld. at 40. The 

Arbitrator stated that, but for the transfer, a constructive trust "could have 

been imposed." ld. at 44. Although the Arbitrator found that the 

Wormans' alternative claim for the value of that interest was 

"speculative" based on the available evidence, id. at 31-33, 44, he 

nonetheless found that the 38 percent ownership interest was "valuable," 

id. at 31. The Arbitrator did not find that disgorgement provided the 

Wormans a complete remedy. See generally id. at 22-46. 

In August 2011, the Wormans (and the other Petitioners) filed the 

action below against the Kotters, SageiKotter, and Kotter International 

seeking the complete remedy they were prevented from obtaining in the 

Arbitration. CP 1-61. Petitioners moved for partial summary judgment 

on their claims for constructive trust, successor liability, and alter ego. 

Respondents cross-moved for summary judgment, arguing that all of 

Petitioners' claims were barred by collateral estoppel. In November 2013, 

the trial court granted Respondents' motion and dismissed all of 

Petitioners' claims. CP 1905-15, 1947-51. It reasoned that the "remedy 

issue to be decided here is identical to the issue that [the Arbitrator] 

decided," and concluded that the Arbitrator's jurisdictional inability to 

impose a constructive trust precluded the court from imposing a 

constructive trust over the ownership interest wrongfully transferred from 

Green to the Kotters. CP 1907-08. 
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The Court of Appeals affirmed. App. at 21. It reasoned that "the 

'ultimate facts' in both the Arbitration and [The] Sage Group's lawsuit 

against the Kotters involved the valuation of Green's 38 percent interest in 

Sage[Kotter," and that the Arbitrator's conclusion that the value of that 

interest was "speculative" barred the claim for constructive trust below. 

Id. at 12, 16. Petitioners seek review. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Summary of Argument 

The Court of Appeals' decision abandoned more than a century of 

Washington law when it barred Petitioners from pursuing their claim for 

constructive trust on the 38 percent ownership interest in Sage[Kotter, 

which had been obtained by proven breaches of fiduciary duty and fraud, 

and which was traceable to the Respondents beyond any dispute. 

Collateral estoppel does not support this patently incorrect and inequitable 

result. The Court of Appeals cited absolutely no authority for its 

statement that a claim for constructive trust is dependent on "value." !d. 

at 12. This glaring omission points to a clear error: the law is settled that 

"value" is not an element of a constructive trust claim. Because a 

constructive trust claim does not depend on value, the Arbitrator's finding 

that the value of the 38 percent ownership interest was "speculative" did 

not collaterally estop Petitioners' claim in this action. 

Petitioners were entitled to seek a constructive trust over the 

38 percent ownership interest in Sage[Kotter in a court of general 
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jurisdiction not because it had a quantifiable value, but because Green had 

acquired it through breaches of fiduciary duty: 

[A] court of equity has jurisdiction to reach the property 
either in the hands of the original wrongdoer, or in the 
hands of any subsequent holder . . . [T]hat a transferee was 
not the original wrongdoer does not insulate him from 
liability for restitution . . . The constructive trust is based on 
property, not wrongs[.] 

Harris Trust & Sav. Bank v. Salomon Smith Barney Inc., 530 U.S. 238, 

251, 120 S. Ct. 2180 (2000) (citations and quotation marks omitted). 

Washington courts have followed this principle "without 

exception" for more than a century. See Rozell v. Vansyckle, 11 Wash. 79, 

84, 39 P. 270 (1895); Huber v. Coast Inv. Co., 30 Wn. App. 804, 810, 638 

P.2d 609 (1981). Because a "'constructive trust is based on property, not 

wrongs,"' Harris Trust, 530 U.S. at 251 (citation omitted), Petitioners 

were entitled to pursue the property Green had obtained by fiduciary 

breach in the hands of its subsequent holder by enforcing the constructive 

trust. The Court of Appeals' erroneous theory of constructive trusts cut 

off that right, and limited the full equitable power of Washington courts to 

redress fiduciary breaches and protect trust beneficiaries. It warrants 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

The Court of Appeals' mistaken emphasis on "value" also caused 

it to tum a blind eye to Green's spoliation of evidence and the Kotters' 

withholding of evidence that was central to SageiKotter's business in the 

Arbitration. App. at 16. In so doing, the Court of Appeals implicitly 

condoned deliberate, strategic discovery violations by breaching 
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fiduciaries and third parties. This presents an independent issue of 

substantial public importance that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Lastly, the Court of Appeals abandoned decades of Washington 

law when it refused to impose successor liability on a business that is a 

"mere continuation" of one that the breaching fiduciary had acquired by 

fraud. In so doing, the Court of Appeals provided a roadmap for 

wrongdoers and their allies to contract around successor liability. This 

error warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (4). 

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with More Than a 
Century of Washington Common Law 

When an officer or director breaches his fiduciary duty and 

acquires an advantage for himself, "the law charges the interest so 

acquired with a trust for the benefit of the corporation, . . . [and] it denies 

to the betrayer all benefit and profit." Guth v. Loft, Inc., 5 A.2d 503, 510 

(Del. 1939). The remedy for that breach has two independent components 

each serving a different purpose: disgorgement and restitution. 

"Disgorgement wrests ill-gotten gains from the hands of a wrongdoer." 

Edmonson v. Lincoln Nat'! Life Ins. Co., 725 F.3d 406, 415 n.3 (3d Cir. 

2013). Restitution compensates the victim by returning the property to its 

rightful owner. It is awarded "in the form of a constructive trust or an 

equitable lien, where ... property ... could clearly be traced to particular 

funds or property in the defendant's possession." Great-W Life & 

Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 213, 122 S. Ct. 708 (2002). 

These two components are complementary: disgorgement of profits 
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earned from property obtained by a fiduciary breach is not a substitute for 

restitution in the form of a constructive trust over the property itself. 

A constructive trust "arises immediately with [the] acquisition of 

the proceeds of the fraud." United States v. $4,224,958.57, 392 F.3d 

1002, 1004 (9th Cir. 2004) (citing 5 Austin W. Scott, The Law ofTrusts: 

Scott on Trusts § 462.4 (4th ed. 1989)); see also Huber, 30 Wn. App. at 

810. Here, the constructive trust arose in January 2009, when Green 

breached his fiduciary duties by executing the SageiKotter Operating 

Agreement. App. at 24, 43-44. 

A constructive trust is not defeated when the breaching fiduciary 

transfers trust property to a third party, unless the transferee is a bona fide 

purchaser. 1 The transferee 

takes the property subject to the trust, unless he has 
purchased the property for value and without notice of the 
fiduciary's breach of duty. The trustee or beneficiaries may 
then maintain an action for restitution of the property (if not 
already disposed of) or disgorgement of proceeds (if 
already disposed of), and disgorgement of the third 
person's profits derived therefrom. 

Harris Trust, 530 U.S. at 250 (emphasis added) (citing Restatement 

(Second) of Trusts §§ 284, 291, 294, 295, 297 (1959)). Similarly, a 

constructive trust is not defeated by a change in the property's physical or 

corporate form. The trust "follow[s] property ... into its product." 1 Dan 

B. Dobbs, Law of Remedies § 4.3(2), at 592 (2d ed. 1993); see also 

Winstandley v. Second Nat 'l Bank of Louisville, 41 N.E. 956, 957 (Ind. Ct. 

1 The Kotters and Kotter International are not bona fide purchasers: they had 
notice of Petitioners' claims, CP 1610-11, 1617, and paid "zero" for the ownership 
interest, CP 1792. See Ryan v. Plath, 18 Wn.2d 839, 863, 140 P.2d 968 (1943) 
(transferee-corporation not a bona fide purchaser where officers knew of breach of trust). 
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App. 1895) (it is an "ancient rule of the common law" that a person 

wrongfully deprived of his property "may follow it, and recover it, no 

matter what changes and transmutations it may have undergone"). 

Accordingly, "if logs be sawed into lumber, and the lumber be made into 

an article of furniture, the owner of the logs may recover the article of 

furniture." Winstandley, 41 N.E. at 957. 

The changes in form and legal title are irrelevant because property 

obtained through a fiduciary breach remains subject to the constructive 

trust. "So long as either the original or substituted property can be traced 

or followed equity will always attribute the ownership to the beneficiary 

and will not allow the right to be defeated by the wrongful act of the 

fiduciary, no matter what form it may assume." Fall v. Miller, 462 N.E.2d 

1059, 1062 (Ind. Ct. App. 1984) (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted); see also Demoulas v. Demoulas Super Mkts., Inc., 677 N.E.2d 

159, 182-89 (Mass. 1997) (imposing constructive trust over diverted 

business opportunity notwithstanding stock transfers, mergers, 

reorganizations, and name changes). 

Washington courts have followed these "universal" rules for more 

than a century. Paysse v. Paysse, 86 Wash. 349, 354, 150 P. 622 (1915) 

(citing 3 Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence § 1048 (3d ed.)). They have 

held, "without exception," that where property subject to a constructive 

trust is transferred to a third party, the transferee holds the property 

subject to the constructive trust. Rozell, 11 Wash. at 84; see also Huber, 

30 Wn. App. at 810. For almost as long, Washington courts have 
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recognized separate claims and remedies against a breaching fiduciary and 

third-party transferees where the former disposed of trust property. See, 

e.g., Tucker v. Brown, 20 Wn.2d 740, 777, 150 P.2d 604 (1944); Glasgow 

v. Nicholls, 124 Wash. 281,288,214 P. 165 (1923). 

The Court of Appeals' decision disregarded each of these 

principles when it barred Petitioners from pursuing their claim for 

constructive trust for 38 percent ownership interest in SageiKotter, which 

had been obtained by proven breaches of fiduciary duty and which was 

traceable beyond any dispute to Respondents. The principles of collateral 

estoppel do not support this result. "Collateral estoppel is confined ... to 

situations where the matter raised in the second suit is identical in all 

respects with that decided in the first proceeding and where the 

controlling facts and applicable legal rules remain unchanged." 

Standlee v. Smith, 83 Wn.2d 405, 408, 518 P.2d 721 (1974) (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted; emphasis added). Collateral 

estoppel is further limited to "ultimate ... facts directly at issue in the first 

controversy upon which the claim rests." Beagles v. Seattle-First Nat 'l 

Bank, 25 Wn. App. 925,931,610 P.2d 962 (1980) (emphasis added). 

The value of the 38 percent ownership interest in SageiKotter was 

neither an "ultimate fact" in the Arbitration nor presented an "identical" 

issue in the action below. The specific value ofthat interest was irrelevant 

to the Arbitrator's order that Green disgorge part of the salary and benefits 

he received from SageiKotter. Disgorgement is measured by the 

wrongdoer's profits rather than the victim's loss and does not require 
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proof of value. See Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 462, 824 P.2d 1207 

(1992); see also Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust 

Enrichment§ 51 cmt. a (2011); id. § 43 cmt. d (a claim based on a breach 

of the duty of loyalty may be brought "without regard to economic 

injury"). Because disgorgement does not depend on a determination of 

value, the Arbitrator's finding that the value of the 38 percent ownership 

interest was speculative was not necessary to the remedy awarded by the 

Arbitrator and, therefore, is not an "ultimate fact" to which collateral 

estoppel applies. See Beagles, 25 Wn. App. at 930 ("[F]indings made in 

the first action on which the judgment is not dependent are not conclusive 

between the parties in a subsequent action." (citing Restatement of 

Judgments § 68 cmt. o (1942))). 

Nor was the value of the ownership interest "identical in all 

respects" to an issue presented in the trial court. A constructive trust is 

"imposed on particular assets, not on a value." Estate of Cowling v. 

Estate of Cowling, 847 N.E.2d 405, 412 (Ohio 2006). To illustrate, "if a 

party is inequitably deprived of 100 shares of stock that are valued at 

$10,000, a constructive trust should be imposed over 100 shares of stock, 

not $10,000." !d.; see also Dobbs, supra, § 4.4, at 625 ("[W]henever the 

plaintiff is entitled to a constructive trust, he is by definition entitled to a 

specific thing." (emphasis added)). Because the constructive trust allows 

the plaintiff "to recover the asset in specie" rather than "a money 

substitute," id. § 4.3(2), at 589, 595 (emphasis added), courts have 

imposed it in cases where the value of the "specific thing" was uncertain, 
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speculative, or otherwise not established. See Evergreen W Bus. Ctr., 

LLC v. Emmert, 323 P.3d 250, 258 (Or. 2014) ("[I]n the constructive trust 

claim, plaintiff sought specific relief that did not require a determination 

of the value of the property at that point in time."); Walker v. Res. Dev.

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