923040

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 04, 2015, 11:41 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 71405-8

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

THE SAGE GROUP I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; M3, INC., a Washington corporation; RONALD WORMAN and SALLY WORMAN, individually and the marital community composed thereof; ERIK VAN ALSTINE, individually and his marital community,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

V.

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard Regarding Petitions for Discretionary Review

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the superior court is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (3) If the decision involves an issue of public interest which should be determined by an appellate court; or
- (4) If the superior court has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by the court of limited jurisdiction, as to call for review by the appellate court.

RAP 13.4(b). Appellants do not contend that discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Because Appellants fail to demonstrate that discretionary review is appropriate under any other subsection of RAP 13.4(b), the Court should decline to review this matter.

B. Through Their Petition, Appellants Ask This Court to Reverse Findings of Fact Made by Judge Alsdorf, Which is Not an Appropriate Basis for Seeking Discretionary Review

In bringing the instant petition, Appellants are not really seeking to correct any alleged error of law, as required under RAP 13.4(b), but are instead asking this Court to reverse two key *findings of fact* resolved against them in the Alsdorf Arbitration: (1) that Green's equity interest has been liquidated, and (2) that Appellants received their *pro rata* share of the liquidation proceeds. Nothing in the Rules of Appellate Procedure permits discretionary review of such *factual* findings, and even if the rules did permit such review, it would not be necessary or appropriate in light of the undisputed and indisputable nature of the evidence at issue. *Id*.

Indeed, Judge Alsdorf explicitly recognized that Green's equity in Sage|Kotter was liquidated in connection with the dissolution, App. at 35, as evidenced by the fact that he awarded Appellants, among other relief, their *pro rata* share of the six-figure "liquidating distribution" paid to Green. App. at 19, 35.⁵

And while Judge Alsdorf was willing to grant Appellants that significant relief, he made clear that Green's equity actually had *no value*

⁵ Appellants' own expert acknowledged, and represented to Judge Alsdorf, that the payment made to Green "may reflect the offsetting of amounts due to Green for his equity interest against a settlement of claims or abeyance of threatened litigation by Kotter, Dearman, and/or Sage|Kotter." CP 206-07. Of course: That is precisely what the Settlement Agreement and its broadly-worded mutual release explicitly say. CP 1349 § 1.4; CP 1350-52 § 3.1.

in light of Dr. Kotter's "absolute control" over both Sage|Kotter and its assets. On the basis of that finding, Judge Alsdorf concluded that "any reasonable buyer of ["Green's" minority interest would] be extremely unlikely to pay more than a nominal premium." App. at 8-9.

Appellants now contend that the lower courts erred in refusing to impose a constructive trust over Green's equity interest because, according to them, "'constructive trust is based on property,' not its value."

Pet. At 15. In other words, Appellants argue that even if Green's interest was worthless, a worthless piece of property may still be impressed with a constructive trust. *Id*.

Setting aside the fact that Appellants cite no Washington authority in support of that position, their argument fails for a more fundamental reason: Green's equity interest does not exist. It was liquidated for a substantial sum of money, and Judge Alsdorf was aware of that fact.

Indeed, Judge Alsdorf awarded Appellants their *pro rata* share of the six-figure "liquidating distribution" Green received in exchange for his worthless equity interest. App. at 35.

Even if a constructive trust could be imposed upon a worthless piece of property, as Appellants contend, it is beyond reasonable dispute that the alleged "property" in question does not exist.⁶

In pursuing the instant petition, Appellants implicitly ask this

Court to conclude, contrary to the findings made by Judge Alsdorf, (1) that

Green's equity interest was <u>not</u>, in fact, liquidated, (2) that Green did <u>not</u>,

in fact, receive a six-figure liquidating distribution as part of the

dissolution, (3) that Judge Alsdorf did <u>not</u>, in fact, award Appellants their

pro rata share of the six-figure liquidating distribution, (4) that Green's

equity interest <u>does</u>, in fact, continue to exist, and (5) that it <u>is</u>, in fact,

possible to impose a constructive trust over that alleged "property."

Indisputably, none of those things is true. Indisputably, each of those factual propositions was resolved against Appellants long ago, as both of the courts below correctly recognized. Indisputably, RAP 13.4(b) does not contemplate that this Court can or should exercise discretionary review in order to review findings of fact entered as part of an arbitration

6

⁶ Appellants cite a case decided more than 30 years ago by an intermediate appellate court in Indiana for the proposition that a constructive trust may be imposed "[s]o long as either the original or substituted property can be traced or followed." Pet. at 12 (quoting Fall v. Miller, 462 N.E.2d 1059, 1062 (Ind. Ct. App. 1984)). If one were to "trace or follow" Green's equity interest, however, they would be led to Appellants' own bank accounts, as they are the ones who ultimately received what Judge Alsdorf determined to be their pro rata share of the "liquidating distribution" paid to Green in exchange for that interest. App. at 19, 35.

in a separate proceeding that has long concluded, let alone findings of fact such as the ones here that are beyond any reasonable dispute.

Indeed, as Judge Alsdorf determined, and as the Court of Appeals subsequently recited in its ruling:

Green's compensation and benefits from [Sage|Kotter], settlement payment, and liquidated distributions were the only property to which [Appellants] had a claim, and they received the value of that property at arbitration and in settlement.

App. at 19. Following Appellants' receipt of those significant funds, "[n]o property of Green's remained by which the Kotters could be unjustly enriched" or over which a constructive trust could even theoretically be imposed. App. at 19.

That ruling, which is based entirely upon undisputed and indisputable findings of fact, does not amount to an error of law, does not represent a departure from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, and does not warrant discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b).

C. There is no Basis to Review the Lower Court Rulings That the Alsdorf Arbitration Was Procedurally Fair

Appellants next contend that the Alsdorf Arbitration was procedurally unfair, arguing that it would be inappropriate to apply collateral estoppel in light of "the Kotters' calculated withholding of evidence in the Arbitration." Pet. at 16. Aside from turning upon a

demonstrably inaccurate premise, the conclusion Appellants ask this Court to draw is fundamentally wrong. As set forth below, Kotter fully complied with his discovery obligations in the Alsdorf Arbitration, and the lower courts correctly concluded that the Alsdorf Arbitration was procedurally fair.

In order for collateral estoppel to apply, the party seeking application of the doctrine must establish, among other things, that the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in question during the earlier proceeding. *See*, *e.g.*, *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 264–65, 956 P.2d 312, 317 (1998).

In determining whether a prior proceeding was full and fair,
Washington courts look to whether the *procedures available* in that action
afforded the litigants an opportunity to discover and present relevant
evidence. *See*, e.g., *Thompson v. State*, *Dept. of Licensing*, 138 Wn.2d
783, 795-96, 982 P.2d 601, 610 (1999) (en banc). Indeed, as this Court
has made clear: "[T]he injustice prong of the collateral estoppel doctrine
calls for an examination primarily of procedural regularity." *Id*.

Here, based upon the undisputed and indisputable evidence before it, the trial court determined that the Alsdorf Arbitration was procedurally fair, CP 1914, and the Court of Appeals agreed with that ruling.

App. at 16. That conclusion is amply supported by the record. For example, although Appellants argue that Kotter wrongfully withheld documents in discovery, they fail to mention that Judge Alsdorf entertained two motions to compel Sage|Kotter into producing the documents in question. CP 1910, CP 3289 ¶ 2(f); CP 3369 ¶ 2.

Appellants also fail to mention that Judge Alsdorf *denied* both of those motions, subject to reconsideration upon a showing of good cause.

Id. Appellants also fail to mention that they never followed-up with Judge Alsdorf regarding the issue, never attempted to make a showing of good cause, and never asked Judge Alsdorf to reconsider his prior discovery rulings. Id. Instead, Appellants made a strategic decision to proceed to the hearing without pursuing the documents they now conveniently claim were so critical to their case. App. at 16.

Because the "full and fair hearing" analysis concerns the availability of adequate *procedures* in the prior proceeding, *Thompson*, 138 Wn.2d at 795-96, and because Judge Alsdorf unquestionably provided Appellants with adequate discovery procedures – including a written invitation for Appellants to revisit his rulings regarding the documents in question, should they decide to do so – Kotter's alleged "discovery violations" make no difference to the collateral estoppel analysis. *Id*.

Indeed, as the lower courts correctly determined, "[t]he Arbitration was procedurally fair," CP 1914; App. at 16, and Appellants' decision not to revisit certain discovery rulings with Judge Alsdorf is not evidence that the Alsdorf Arbitration was somehow procedurally unfair.

Although not necessary to the argument presented here, it should be noted that Judge Alsdorf's explicit praise for Kotter—and particularly what he found to be his high level of credibility—makes clear that he did not believe Kotter contributed to Green's spoliation of evidence in any way, or that he somehow frustrated the arbitration. App. at 26.

Moreover, Appellants concede that Kotter *produced* the information they claim Green withheld from discovery. CP 1046.

Appellants do not explain how actions that had the purpose and effect of *preserving* Green's documents somehow had the effect of stymying discovery. In fact, Appellants concede that they were able to uncover Green's spoliation in the Alsdorf Arbitration *only because* Kotter took steps to preserve and produce the documents in question. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 3243; CP 1046 (referring to "one of the many documents obtained only from Sage|Kotter, not Mr. Green").

Lastly, although also unnecessary to the argument set forth here, it is noteworthy that both the trial and appellate courts below found that the document Appellants accuse Kotter of wrongfully withholding from

the Alsdorf Arbitration actually supports *Respondents' position*, not Appellants'. *See*, *e.g.*, App. at 16 ("[T]he member services agreement supports the conclusion Judge Alsdorf reached without it."); CP 1914.

D. There is no Basis For This Court to Review the Lower Courts' Rulings Regarding Appellants' Successor Liability Claim

Finally, Appellants argue that, in rejecting their claim for imposition of a constructive trust, the "Court of Appeals created a roadmap for avoiding successor liability." Pet. at 18. Appellants are wrong, and once again simply misstate the facts.

Appellants' argument is based upon the following erroneous characterization of the Settlement Agreement: "And the Kotters and Kotter International paid Sage|Kotter nothing for its assets, including its long-term contracts, intellectual property and proprietary processes, skilled employees, business model and structure, marketing plan, accounts receivable, goodwill, or any intangible asset." Pet. at 19-20.

The undisputed and indisputable evidence in the record demonstrates that Appellants are just plain wrong. By its express terms, the Settlement Agreement effected "an orderly liquidation of Sage|Kotter." App. at 7. Pursuant to that Settlement Agreement, each party thereto, including Green, received a substantial "liquidating distribution." Under the "plan of liquidation," Green received total compensation of \$310,889, consisting of a six-figure settlement payment and an additional

six-figure "liquidated distribution in proportion to his 38 percent interest." *Id.* Appellants received their *pro rata* share of those funds. *Id.* at 33-35.

Based on these facts, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that "the settlement and mutual release liquidated and terminated Green's interest, whether identified in specie or in dollars. Sage Group could and did rightfully assert claims against the property Green received at dissolution, but Kotter International assumed no liability based on those claims." *Id.* at 20. On the contrary, following dissolution, "[n]o property of Green's remained by which the Kotter's could be unjustly enriched," *Id.* at 19, and Appellants "were not co-members of Sage|Kotter to whom Kotter owed a fiduciary duty . . ., [n]or were they judgment creditors whose claims Kotter deliberately avoided in conveying the assets of Sage|Kotter to Kotter Associates Inc." *Id.*

Appellants cite no legal authority undermining that well-reasoned analysis, and there is nothing about the Settlement Agreement that even arguably serves as "a roadmap for avoiding successor liability." On the contrary, by entering into the Settlement Agreement, Kotter paid Green (and by extension, Appellants) hundreds of thousands of dollars in exchange for an interest Judge Alsdorf conclusively determined had no value.

Dr. Kotter did not "evade" or attempt to "evade" anything, but instead paid a considerable amount of money he did not owe – ultimately allocated to individuals with whom he had no relationship and owed no duty - in order to be done with Dana Green and move on with his life. If one is tempted to use that course of dealing as a "roadmap" for "evading" liability, they would be well served to find a different map.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that the Court deny Appellants' petition for discretionary review.